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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
____________________________________________________

FORM 10-Q

xQuarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for the Quarter Ended July
2, 2011

o Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Commission File Number 1-8002

THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 04-2209186
(State of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

81 Wyman Street
Waltham, Massachusetts 02451
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (781) 622-1000

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes x  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit and post such files). 
Yes x  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x     Accelerated filer o     Non-accelerated filer o     Smaller reporting company o
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).   Yes o  No x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of Common Stock, as of the latest practicable
date.

Class Outstanding at July 2, 2011
Common Stock, $1.00 par

value
381,873,011
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PART I          FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.           Financial Statements

THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Unaudited)

July 2, December 31,
(In millions) 2011 2010

Assets
Current Assets:
    Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,356.1 $ 917.1
    Short-term investments, at quoted market value (cost of $8.2 and $9.6) 7.6 8.9
    Accounts receivable, less allowances of $39.9 and $39.2 1,683.4 1,473.8
    Inventories:
        Raw materials 321.4 281.6
        Work in process 139.3 108.4
        Finished goods 889.7 782.9
    Deferred tax assets 195.2 181.3
    Other current assets 412.0 381.0

5,004.7 4,135.0

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost 2,492.6 2,199.2
    Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (983.1 ) (839.0 )

1,509.5 1,360.2

Acquisition-related Intangible Assets, net of Accumulated Amortization of $2,868.4
and $2,539.1 6,650.6 5,913.7

Other Assets 536.2 944.8

Goodwill 10,372.8 8,995.7

$ 24,073.8 $ 21,349.4
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)
(Unaudited)

July 2, December 31,
(In millions except share amounts) 2011 2010

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current Liabilities:
    Short-term obligations and current maturities of long-term obligations $ 18.5 $ 105.8
    Accounts payable 632.9 546.7
    Accrued payroll and employee benefits 262.8 304.5
    Accrued income taxes 31.1 59.2
    Deferred revenue 205.0 158.2
    Other accrued expenses 666.5 535.4

1,816.8 1,709.8

Deferred Income Taxes 1,956.8 1,626.1

Other Long-term Liabilities 625.7 621.2

Long-term Obligations 4,008.8 2,031.3

Shareholders' Equity:
    Preferred stock, $100 par value, 50,000 shares authorized; none issued
    Common stock, $1 par value, 1,200,000,000 shares authorized; 405,896,457 and
401,779,152 shares issued 405.9 401.8
    Capital in excess of par value 10,093.6 10,019.7
    Retained earnings 6,162.0 5,386.4
    Treasury stock at cost, 24,023,446 and 10,409,268 shares (1,261.8 ) (490.5 )
    Accumulated other comprehensive items 266.0 43.6

15,665.7 15,361.0

$ 24,073.8 $ 21,349.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Consolidated Statement of Income
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenues
   Product revenues $ 2,472.6 $ 2,249.0 $ 4,808.7 $ 4,531.4
   Service revenues 424.8 346.7 810.1 691.2

2,897.4 2,595.7 5,618.8 5,222.6

Costs and Operating Expenses:
   Cost of product revenues 1,460.2 1,335.8 2,815.0 2,685.9
   Cost of service revenues 271.0 211.0 517.3 421.4
   Selling, general and administrative expenses 777.2 673.2 1,485.9 1,371.5
   Research and development expenses 83.3 69.6 158.1 135.7
   Restructuring and other costs, net 39.9 8.2 55.2 25.6

2,631.6 2,297.8 5,031.5 4,640.1

Operating Income 265.8 297.9 587.3 582.5
Other Expense, Net (10.2 ) (36.8 ) (32.7 ) (61.7 )

Income from Continuing Operations Before Provision for
Income Taxes 255.6 261.1 554.6 520.8
Provision for Income Taxes (38.0 ) (32.4 ) (89.8 ) (67.5 )

Income from Continuing Operations 217.6 228.7 464.8 453.3
Income from Discontinued Operations (net of income tax
provision of $0.0, $5.5,
      $3.6 and $8.7) — 8.6 5.5 13.8
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, Net (net
of income tax provision of
      $191.2, $0.0, $190.9 and $1.5) 305.8 — 305.3 2.5

Net Income $ 523.4 $ 237.3 $ 775.6 $ 469.6

Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations
   Basic $ .57 $ .56 $ 1.21 $ 1.11
   Diluted $ .56 $ .55 $ 1.19 $ 1.09

Earnings per Share
   Basic $ 1.37 $ .58 $ 2.01 $ 1.15
   Diluted $ 1.36 $ .57 $ 1.99 $ 1.13
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Weighted Average Shares
   Basic 381.9 409.3 385.3 409.4
   Diluted 385.9 415.9 390.3 417.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

6



THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010

Operating Activities
    Net Income $ 775.6 $ 469.6
    Income from discontinued operations (5.5 ) (13.8 )
    Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (305.3 ) (2.5 )

    Income from continuing operations 464.8 453.3

    Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided
by operating activities:
        Depreciation and amortization 386.9 378.9
        Change in deferred income taxes (78.9 ) (132.0 )
        Non-cash stock-based compensation 41.9 40.8
        Non-cash interest expense on convertible debt 1.4 5.3
        Non-cash charges for sale of inventories revalued at the date of acquisition 16.6 6.0
        Tax benefits from stock-based compensation awards (15.4 ) (7.8 )
        Other non-cash expenses, net 23.6 24.4
        Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions and
dispositions:
              Accounts receivable (66.6 ) (99.5 )
              Inventories (64.6 ) (50.9 )
              Other assets (9.6 ) (9.4 )
              Accounts payable 57.7 51.6
               Other liabilities (64.8 ) (43.0 )
                Contributions to retirement plans (12.8 ) (8.7 )

               Net cash provided by continuing operations 680.2 609.0
               Net cash provided by discontinued operations 13.1 17.8

               Net cash provided by operating activities 693.3 626.8

Investing Activities
    Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,091.3) (287.8 )
    Purchase of property, plant and equipment (122.9 ) (105.4 )
    Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.2 2.4
    Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash divested 13.8 —
    Other investing activities, net (2.9 ) (0.2 )

               Net cash used in continuing operations (2,200.1) (391.0 )
               Net cash provided by discontinued operations 834.2 0.5
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               Net cash used in investing activities $ (1,365.9) $ (390.5 )
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010

Financing Activities
    Net proceeds from issuance of debt $ 2,174.4 $ 741.6
    Settlement of convertible debt (452.0 ) (600.8 )
    Redemption and repayment of long-term obligations (0.5 ) (502.2 )
    Purchases of company common stock (762.5 ) (187.5 )
    Net proceeds from issuance of company common stock 141.8 49.4
    Tax benefits from stock-based compensation awards 15.4 7.8
    Increase (decrease) in short-term notes payable 9.2 (0.1 )

               Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,125.8 (491.8 )

Exchange Rate Effect on Cash (14.2 ) (1.2 )

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 439.0 (256.7 )
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 917.1 1,564.1

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 1,356.1 $ 1,307.4

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
    Fair value of assets of acquired businesses $ 2,708.1 $ 406.1
    Cash paid for acquired businesses (2,182.3) (305.4 )

        Fair value of liabilities assumed of acquired businesses $ 525.8 $ 100.7

    Issuance of restricted stock $ — $ 1.4

    Issuance of stock upon vesting of restricted stock units $ 21.9 $ 15.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1.      General

The interim consolidated financial statements presented herein have been prepared by Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.
(the company or Thermo Fisher), are unaudited and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments of a normal
recurring nature necessary for a fair statement of the financial position at July 2, 2011, the results of operations for the
three- and six-month periods ended July 2, 2011, and July 3, 2010, and the cash flows for the six-month periods ended
July 2, 2011, and July 3, 2010. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

The consolidated balance sheet presented as of December 31, 2010, has been derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements as of that date, as adjusted for the reclassification of discontinued operations discussed below.
The consolidated financial statements and notes are presented as permitted by Form 10-Q and do not contain all of the
information that is included in the annual financial statements and notes of the company. The consolidated financial
statements and notes included in this report should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on
July 12, 2011.

The results of two businesses have been classified and presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying
financial statements (Note 2). Prior period results have been adjusted to conform to this presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, new guidance was issued pertaining to the presentation of comprehensive income. The new rule
eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes in
equity. The standard is intended to provide a more consistent method of presenting non-owner transactions that affect
the company’s equity. Under the new guidance, an entity can elect to present items of net income and other
comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in two separate, but consecutive, statements. The new guidance
is effective for fiscal years that begin after December 15, 2011. Adoption of this standard will not have an impact on
the company’s results of operations or financial position.

In May 2011, the FASB amended existing rules covering fair value measurement and disclosure to clarify guidance
and minimize differences between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The new
guidance requires entities to provide information about valuation techniques and unobservable inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements and provide a narrative description of the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements to changes in
unobservable inputs. The guidance will be effective for the company on January 1, 2012 and is not expected to have a
material impact on its financial statements.

2.      Acquisitions and Dispositions

Pending Acquisition

On May 19, 2011, the company entered into an agreement to acquire the Phadia group, a global leader in allergy and
autoimmunity diagnostics, headquartered in Sweden, for approximately €1.05 billion in cash and the repayment of
certain indebtedness owed by Phadia to the seller and third party lenders. As of the date of the agreement, the amount
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of this debt totaled approximately €1.41 billion, making the total purchase price approximately $3.51 billion, based on
exchange rates at the time of the announcement. The acquisition will be part of the Analytical Technologies segment.
The company has available cash on hand and committed short-term financing arrangements of up to $3 billion to
purchase Phadia. The company expects, however, to issue long-term debt to replace the short-term financing
arrangements. The closing of the transaction is subject to certain conditions, including the receipt of regulatory
approvals. Phadia’s revenues in 2010 totaled €367 million (approximately $525 million based on exchange rates at the
time of the announcement).
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

2.      Acquisitions and Dispositions (continued)

Acquisitions

On December 13, 2010, the company and Dionex Corporation, a leading manufacturer and marketer of
chromatography systems, announced that their Boards of Directors unanimously approved a transaction under which
Thermo Fisher would acquire all of the outstanding shares of Dionex. Dionex, headquartered in Sunnyvale, California,
is a global leader in the manufacturing and marketing of ion and liquid chromatography and sample preparation
systems, consumables, and software for chemical analysis. Dionex systems are used worldwide in environmental
analysis and by the life sciences, chemical, petrochemical, food and beverage, power generation, and electronics
industries. Their expertise in applications and instrumentation helps analytical scientists to evaluate and develop
pharmaceuticals, establish environmental regulations, and produce better industrial products. The Analytical
Technologies segment completed the acquisition in May 2011, for a total purchase price of $2.03 billion, net of cash
acquired. Revenues of Dionex totaled $420 million in its fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. The purchase price
exceeded the fair value of the acquired net assets and, accordingly, $1.32 billion was allocated to goodwill,
substantially none of which is tax deductible.

In addition, in the first six months of 2011, the Laboratory Products and Services segment acquired a U.K. based
provider of single-use plastic products serving the microbiology, life sciences and clinical markets and certain
operating assets of a Singapore-based distributor of laboratory equipment and consumables. The aggregate
consideration for these acquisitions was $42 million.

The company made contingent purchase price and post closing adjustment payments totaling $30 million in the first
six months of 2011, for acquisitions completed prior to 2011. The contingent purchase price payments were
contractually due to the sellers upon achievement of certain performance criteria at the acquired businesses.

The company’s acquisitions have historically been made at prices above the fair value of the acquired identifiable
assets, resulting in goodwill, due to expectations of the synergies that will be realized by combining the businesses.
These synergies include the elimination of redundant facilities, functions and staffing; use of the company’s existing
commercial infrastructure to expand sales of the acquired businesses’ products; and use of the commercial
infrastructure of the acquired businesses to cost-effectively expand sales of company products.

Acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and the acquired companies’ results
have been included in the accompanying financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition. Acquisition
transaction costs are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. Allocation of the purchase price for
acquisitions was based on estimates of the fair value of the net assets acquired and, for acquisitions completed within
the past year, is subject to adjustment upon finalization of the purchase price allocation. The company is not aware of
any information that indicates the final purchase price allocations will differ materially from the preliminary
estimates.

The components of the purchase price allocations for 2011 acquisitions are as follows:
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

2.      Acquisitions and Dispositions (continued)

(In millions) Dionex Other Total

Purchase Price
    Cash paid $ 2,140.8 $ 41.5 $ 2,182.3
    Debt assumed 3.1 — 3.1
    Purchase price payable — 0.6 0.6
    Cash acquired (114.9 ) (0.6 ) (115.5 )

$ 2,029.0 $ 41.5 $ 2,070.5

Allocation
    Current assets $ 228.4 $ 12.4 $ 240.8
    Property, plant and equipment 87.1 16.0 103.1
    Intangible assets:
         Customer relationships 495.3 9.4 504.7
         Product technology 350.2 6.3 356.5
         In-process research and development 18.3 — 18.3
         Tradenames and other 35.7 0.7 36.4
    Goodwill 1,317.4 11.3 1,328.7
    Other assets 4.1 — 4.1
    Liabilities assumed (507.5 ) (14.6 ) (522.1 )

$ 2,029.0 $ 41.5 $ 2,070.5

The weighted-average amortization periods for intangible assets acquired in 2011 are 9 years for customer
relationships, 10 years for product technology and 9 years for tradenames and other. The weighted average
amortization period for all intangible assets in the above table is 10 years.

Had the acquisition of Dionex been completed as of the beginning of 2010, the company’s pro forma results for 2011
and 2010 would have been as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenues $ 2,953.7 $ 2,696.8 $ 5,795.1 $ 5,427.1

Income from Continuing Operations $ 253.3 $ 214.7 $ 492.5 $ 361.0

Net Income $ 559.1 $ 223.3 $ 803.3 $ 377.3

Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations:
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   Basic $ 0.66 $ 0.52 $ 1.28 $ 0.88
   Diluted $ 0.66 $ 0.52 $ 1.26 $ 0.87

Earnings per Share:
   Basic $ 1.46 $ 0.55 $ 2.08 $ 0.92
   Diluted $ 1.45 $ 0.54 $ 2.06 $ 0.90
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

2.      Acquisitions and Dispositions (continued)

Pro forma results include the following non-recurring pro forma adjustments that were directly attributable to the
business combination:

•  
Pre-tax reduction in revenue of $3.8 million and $10.5 million for the three and six months ended July 3, 2010,
respectively, and $1.1 million in
the six months ended July 2, 2011, due to the impact of revaluing Dionex deferred revenue obligations to fair
value.

•  
Pre-tax charge to cost of revenues of $24.3 million for the six months ended July 3, 2010 for the sale of
Dionex inventories revalued at the date of
acquisition.

•  
Pre-tax charge of $21.6 million for the six months ended July 3, 2010 relating to monetizing equity awards
held by Dionex employees at the date of
acquisition.

•  
Pre-tax charge of $54.8 million for the six months ended July 3, 2010 for acquisition-related transaction costs
incurred by both the company and
Dionex.

The company’s results would not have been materially different from its reported results had the company’s other 2011
and 2010 acquisitions occurred at the beginning of 2010.

Dispositions

In May 2011, the company sold a manufacturer of heating equipment for $14 million and recorded a pre-tax loss on
sale of $3 million, included in restructuring and other costs, net. Operating results of the business were not material.

On April 4, 2011, the company sold, in separate transactions, its Athena Diagnostics business (Athena), part of the
Analytical Technologies segment, for $740 million in cash and its Lancaster Laboratories business (Lancaster), part of
the Laboratory Products and Services segment, for $180 million in cash and escrowed proceeds of $20 million, due in
October 2012. The sale of these businesses resulted in an after-tax gain of approximately $304 million or $0.78 per
diluted share. Athena provides diagnostic testing for neurological and other diseases, with an emphasis on gene-based
tests. Lancaster is a contract-testing laboratory that provides analytical laboratory services. The results of both
businesses have been included in the accompanying financial statements as discontinued operations for all periods
presented. Operating results and balance sheet data of the discontinued operations were as follows:

Three
Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions)  2010  2011  2010
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Revenues $ 55.2 $ 54.3 $ 105.1
Pre-tax Income 14.0 9.1 22.5

December
31,

2010

Other Current Assets $64.8
Other Assets 451.0
Other Accrued Expenses 17.6
Other Long-term Liabilities 58.4
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

3.      Business Segment Information

The company’s continuing operations fall into two business segments, Analytical Technologies and Laboratory
Products and Services.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenues
   Analytical Technologies $ 1,282.3 $ 1,074.9 $ 2,460.0 $ 2,158.3
   Laboratory Products and Services 1,756.9 1,653.7 3,442.2 3,324.3
   Eliminations (141.8 ) (132.9 ) (283.4 ) (260.0 )

      Consolidated revenues 2,897.4 2,595.7 5,618.8 5,222.6

Segment Income
   Analytical Technologies (a) 271.2 213.8 518.8 437.1
   Laboratory Products and Services (a) 239.1 233.6 469.7 465.2

      Subtotal reportable segments (a) 510.3 447.4 988.5 902.3

   Cost of revenues charges (15.4 ) (3.7 ) (18.3 ) (8.8 )
   Selling, general and administrative charges, net (38.0 ) 0.2 (41.1 ) (0.9 )
   Restructuring and other costs, net (39.9 ) (8.2 ) (55.2 ) (25.6 )
   Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets (151.2 ) (137.8 ) (286.6 ) (284.5 )

      Consolidated operating income 265.8 297.9 587.3 582.5
   Other expense, net (b) (10.2 ) (36.8 ) (32.7 ) (61.7 )

   Income from continuing operations before provision for
income taxes $ 255.6 $ 261.1 $ 554.6 $ 520.8

Depreciation
   Analytical Technologies $ 24.5 $ 21.6 $ 47.0 $ 43.3
   Laboratory Products and Services 26.9 25.9 53.3 51.1

      Consolidated depreciation $ 51.4 $ 47.5 $ 100.3 $ 94.4

(a)  Represents operating income before certain charges to cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative
expenses; restructuring and other costs,
       net; and amortization of acquisition-related intangibles.
(b)  The company does not allocate other expense, net to its segments.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

4.      Other Expense, Net

         The components of other expense, net, in the accompanying statement of income are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Interest Income $ 6.6 $ 2.9 $ 11.6 $ 5.3
Interest Expense (38.9 ) (23.8 ) (66.7 ) (46.1 )
Other Items, Net 22.1 (15.9 ) 22.4 (20.9 )

$ (10.2 ) $ (36.8 ) $ (32.7 ) $ (61.7 )

In the three- and six-month periods ended July 2, 2011, other items, net includes $33 million of gains on currency
exchange contracts associated with the pending acquisition of Phadia (see Note 12), offset in part by $10 million of
fees associated with a short-term financing commitment to fund the Phadia acquisition (see Note 9). In the three- and
six- month periods ended July 3, 2010, other items, net includes $15 million and $16 million, respectively, of charges
for the early extinguishment of debt.

5.      Stock-based Compensation Expense

         The components of pre-tax stock-based compensation expense for the company’s continuing operations are as
follows:

Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
  July 2, July 3, July 2,  July 3,

(In millions)  2011  2010  2011  2010

Stock Option Awards $ 12.3 $ 12.5 $ 25.3 $ 23.9
Restricted Share/Unit Awards 8.0 9.5 16.6 16.9

Total Stock-based Compensation Expense $ 20.3 $ 22.0 $ 41.9 $ 40.8

   Stock-based compensation expense is included in the accompanying statement of income as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Cost of Revenues $ 1.4 $ 1.6 $ 2.9 $ 2.9
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 18.4 20.0 38.0 37.1
Research and Development Expenses 0.5 0.4 1.0 0.8
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Total Stock-based Compensation Expense $ 20.3 $ 22.0 $ 41.9 $ 40.8

No stock-based compensation expense has been capitalized in inventories due to immateriality.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

5.      Stock-based Compensation Expense (continued)

Unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options and restricted stock totaled approximately $105
million and $54 million, respectively, as of July 2, 2011, and is expected to be recognized through 2015 with weighted
average amortization periods of 2.9 years and 2.3 years, respectively.

During the first six months of 2011, the company made equity compensation grants to employees consisting of 0.5
million restricted units and options to purchase 3.4 million shares.

6.      Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Employees of a number of the company’s non-U.S. and certain U.S. subsidiaries participate in defined benefit pension
plans covering substantially all full-time employees at those subsidiaries. Some of the plans are unfunded, as
permitted under the plans and applicable laws. The company also has postretirement healthcare programs at several
acquired businesses in which certain employees at those businesses are eligible to participate. The costs of the
healthcare program are funded on a self-insured and insured-premium basis. Net periodic benefit costs for the
company’s defined benefit pension plans include the following components:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Service Cost $ 3.0 $ 2.5 $ 6.1 $ 5.3
Interest Cost on Benefit Obligation 13.7 12.8 27.1 26.0
Expected Return on Plan Assets (14.4 ) (13.4 ) (28.7 ) (27.2 )
Amortization of Net Loss 0.1 0.5 1.5 1.0
Special Termination Benefits 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.3

Net Periodic Benefit Cost $ 2.5 $ 2.7 $ 6.1 $ 5.4

   Net periodic benefit costs for the company's other postretirement benefit plans include the following components:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Service Cost $ 0.2 $ 0.1 $ 0.4 $ 0.2
Interest Cost on Benefit Obligation 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.0
Amortization of Net Gain (0.1 ) (0.1 ) (0.2 ) (0.2 )

Net Periodic Benefit Cost $ 0.6 $ 0.5 $ 1.2 $ 1.0

7.      Income Taxes
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The company’s liability for unrecognized tax benefits increased to $106 million at July 2, 2011 from $62 million at
December 31, 2010, primarily due to tax benefits associated with liquidation of a subsidiary, utilization of capital loss
carryforwards and 2011 acquisitions.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

8.      Earnings per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share were calculated as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions except per share amounts) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Income from Continuing Operations $ 217.6 $ 228.7 $ 464.8 $ 453.3
Income from Discontinued Operations — 8.6 5.5 13.8
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations, Net 305.8 — 305.3 2.5

Net Income 523.4 237.3 775.6 469.6

Income Allocable to Participating Securities — (0.1 ) — (0.1 )

Net Income for Earnings per Share $ 523.4 $ 237.2 $ 775.6 $ 469.5

Basic Weighted Average Shares 381.9 409.3 385.3 409.4
Effect of:
   Convertible debentures — 3.2 1.1 4.3
   Stock options and restricted stock/units 4.0 3.4 3.9 3.4

Diluted Weighted Average Shares 385.9 415.9 390.3 417.1

Basic Earnings per Share:
   Continuing operations $ .57 $ .56 $ 1.21 $ 1.11
   Discontinued operations .80 .02 .81 .04

$ 1.37 $ .58 $ 2.01 $ 1.15

Diluted Earnings per Share:
   Continuing operations $ .56 $ .55 $ 1.19 $ 1.09
   Discontinued operations .79 .02 .80 .04

$ 1.36 $ .57 $ 1.99 $ 1.13

Options to purchase 3.7 million, 8.2 million, 6.0 million and 8.2 million shares of common stock were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share for the second quarter of 2011 and 2010 and the first six months of 2011
and 2010, respectively, because their effect would have been antidilutive.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

9.      Debt and Other Financing Arrangements

Short-term Financing

In May 2011, the company obtained short-term financing commitments to fund $3 billion of the purchase price for the
pending acquisition of Phadia (see Note 2). The commitment consists of a short-term revolving credit facility for up to
$1 billion and short-term bridge financing for up to $2 billion. Interest on the debt would be computed, at the
company’s election, based on one of several Federal Funds, Prime or LIBOR-based rates, the most favorable of which
was 1.16% at July 2, 2011. The company expects, however, to arrange long-term financing to fund the acquisition of
Phadia in the near-term.

Treasury Locks

In June 2011, in connection with plans to issue long-term debt to fund its pending acquisition of Phadia, the company
entered into hedging agreements (treasury locks) with several banks for a portion of the expected borrowing to
mitigate the risk of interest rates rising prior to completion of a debt offering. Based on the company’s conclusion that
a debt offering is probable and that such debt would carry semi-annual interest payments over a 10-year term, the
agreements hedge the cash flow risk that exists on a component of each of the semi-annual fixed-rate interest
payments on a portion of the principal amount of a planned 10-year fixed rate debt issue (or subsequent financings of
such debt). The change in the fair value of the hedge, $6 million, net of tax, as of July 2, 2011, was classified as an
increase to accumulated other comprehensive items within shareholders’ equity.

Redemption of Convertible Notes

During the first quarter of 2011, following issuance of a redemption notice by the company, holders of the company’s
3.25% Senior Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024 exercised conversion rights for substantially all of the
remaining $329 million principal outstanding. The balance not converted by holders was redeemed by the company.
The company paid the principal and the premium due upon conversion/redemption in cash for a total outlay of $452
million. The premium was charged to capital in excess of par value when paid.

Issuance of Senior Notes

On February 22, 2011, the company issued $2.2 billion principal amount of senior notes, as detailed below, to fund its
acquisition of Dionex (see Note 2) and for general corporate purposes.

2.05% Senior Notes due 2014

On February 22, 2011, the company issued $300 million principal amount of 2.05% Senior Notes due 2014. Interest
on the notes is payable on February 21 and August 21 of each year. The notes may be redeemed at any time at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount plus a specified make-whole premium plus accrued interest. The
company is subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, the most restrictive of which limits the ability of the
company to pledge principal properties as security under borrowing arrangements.
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At the issuance of debt, the company entered into six-month LIBOR-based interest rate swap arrangements with
various banks. The aggregate amount of the swaps is equal to the principal amount of the 2.05% Notes and the
payment dates of the swaps coincide with the payment dates of the 2.05% Notes. The swap contracts provide for the
company to pay a variable interest rate of six-month USD LIBOR plus a spread of 0.4112% (0.88% at July 2, 2011)
and to receive a fixed interest rate of 2.05%. The variable interest rate resets semi-annually. The swaps have been
accounted for as a fair value hedge of the 2.05% Notes.

15

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

27



THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

9.      Debt and Other Financing Arrangements (continued)

3.20% Senior Notes due 2016

On February 22, 2011, the company issued $900 million principal amount of 3.20% Senior Notes due 2016. Interest
on the notes is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year. The notes may be redeemed at any time at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount plus a specified make-whole premium plus accrued interest. The
company is subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, the most restrictive of which limits the ability of the
company to pledge principal properties as security under borrowing arrangements.

4.50% Senior Notes due 2021

On February 22, 2011, the company issued $1.00 billion principal amount of 4.50% Senior Notes due 2021. Interest
on the notes is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year. The notes may be redeemed at any time at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount plus a specified make-whole premium plus accrued interest. The
company is subject to certain affirmative and negative covenants, the most restrictive of which limits the ability of the
company to pledge principal properties as security under borrowing arrangements.

10.     Litigation and Related Contingencies

There are various lawsuits and claims pending against the company involving product liability, contract, commercial
and other issues. In view of the company’s financial condition and the accruals established for these matters,
management does not believe that the ultimate liability, if any, related to these matters will have a material adverse
effect on the company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The company establishes a liability that is an estimate of amounts needed to pay damages in the future for events that
have already occurred. The accrued liabilities are based on management’s judgment as to the probability of losses for
asserted and unasserted claims and, where applicable, actuarially determined estimates. The reserve estimates are
adjusted as additional information becomes known or payments are made.

For product liability, workers compensation and other personal injury matters, the company accrues the most likely
amount or at least the minimum of the range of probable loss when a range of probable loss can be estimated. The
company records estimated amounts due from insurers as an asset. Although the company believes that the amounts
reserved and estimated recoveries are probable and appropriate based on available information, including actuarial
studies of loss estimates, the process of estimating losses and insurance recoveries involves a considerable degree of
judgment by management and the ultimate amounts could vary materially. Insurance contracts do not relieve the
company of its primary obligation with respect to any losses incurred. The collectability of amounts due from its
insurers is subject to the solvency and willingness of the insurer to pay, as well as the legal sufficiency of the
insurance claims. Management monitors the financial condition and ratings of its insurers on an ongoing basis.

The company is currently involved in various stages of investigation and remediation related to environmental
matters. The company cannot predict all potential costs related to environmental remediation matters and the possible
impact on future operations given the uncertainties regarding the extent of the required cleanup, the complexity and
interpretation of applicable laws and regulations, the varying costs of alternative cleanup methods and the extent of
the company’s responsibility. Expenses for environmental remediation matters related to the costs of permit
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requirements and installing, operating and maintaining groundwater-treatment systems and other remedial activities
related to historical environmental contamination at the company’s domestic and international facilities were not
material in any period presented. The company records accruals for environmental remediation liabilities, based on
current interpretations of environmental laws and regulations, when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of such liability can be reasonably estimated. The company calculates estimates based upon several
factors, including reports prepared by environmental specialists and management’s knowledge of and experience with
these environmental matters. The company includes in these estimates potential costs for investigation, remediation
and operation and maintenance of cleanup sites.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

10.    Litigation and Related Contingencies (continued)

Management believes that its reserves for environmental matters are adequate for the remediation costs the company
expects to incur. As a result, the company believes that the ultimate liability with respect to environmental
remediation matters will not have a material adverse effect on the company’s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows. However, the company may be subject to additional remedial or compliance costs due to future events,
such as changes in existing laws and regulations, changes in agency direction or enforcement policies, developments
in remediation technologies or changes in the conduct of the company’s operations, which could have a material
adverse effect on the company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Although these environmental
remediation liabilities do not include third-party recoveries, the company may be able to bring indemnification claims
against third parties for liabilities relating to certain sites.

11.     Comprehensive Income and Shareholders’ Equity

Comprehensive income combines net income and other comprehensive items. Other comprehensive items represent
certain amounts that are reported as components of shareholders’ equity in the accompanying balance sheet. The
components of comprehensive income are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Net Income $ 523.4 $ 237.3 $ 775.6 $ 469.6

Other Comprehensive Items:
   Currency translation adjustment 96.1 (102.7 ) 215.9 (243.2 )
   Unrealized gains on available-for-sale investments, net
of tax 0.8 — 1.2 0.3
   Unrealized gains on hedging instruments, net of tax 5.9 — 6.0 0.1
   Pension and other postretirement benefit liability
adjustments, net of tax (0.8 ) (0.1 ) (0.7 ) 0.7

102.0 (102.8 ) 222.4 (242.1 )

Comprehensive Income $ 625.4 $ 134.5 $ 998.0 $ 227.5
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

12.     Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair Value Measurements

The company uses the market approach technique to value its financial instruments and there were no changes in
valuation techniques during 2011. The company’s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are primarily
comprised of investments in money market funds, mutual funds holding publicly traded securities, derivative contracts
used to hedge the company’s currency and interest rate risks and other investments in unit trusts and insurance
contracts held as assets to satisfy outstanding retirement liabilities.

The fair value accounting guidance requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in
one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company has the ability to
access.

Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data such as quoted
prices, interest rates and yield curves.

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable data points that are not corroborated by market data.

         The following table presents information about the company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of July 2, 2011:

July 2,

Quoted
Prices

 in Active
Markets

Significant
 Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(In millions) 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets
   Cash equivalents $ 611.1 $ 611.1 $ — $ —
   Investments in mutual funds, unit trusts and other
similar instruments 37.6 37.6 — —
   Insurance contracts 48.9 — 48.9 —
   Auction rate securities 4.4 — — 4.4
   Derivative contracts 92.0 — 92.0 —

      Total Assets $ 794.0 $ 648.7 $ 140.9 $ 4.4

Liabilities
   Derivative contracts $ 5.2 $ — $ 5.2 $ —
   Contingent consideration 3.8 — — 3.8
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      Total Liabilities $ 9.0 $ — $ 5.2 $ 3.8
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

12.     Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

         The following table presents information about the company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010:

December
31,

Quoted
Prices

 in Active
 Markets

Significant
 Other

 Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(In millions) 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets
   Cash equivalents $ 301.6 $ 301.6 $ — $ —
   Investments in mutual funds, unit trusts and other
similar instruments 36.3 36.3 — —
   Insurance contracts 42.6 — 42.6 —
   Auction rate securities 4.6 — — 4.6
   Derivative contracts 40.1 — 40.1 —

      Total Assets $ 425.2 $ 337.9 $ 82.7 $ 4.6

Liabilities
   Derivative contracts $ 3.5 $ — $ 3.5 $ —
   Contingent consideration 28.7 — — 28.7

      Total Liabilities $ 32.2 $ — $ 3.5 $ 28.7

The company determines the fair value of its insurance contracts by obtaining the cash surrender value of the contracts
from the issuer. The fair value of derivative contracts is the estimated amount that the company would receive/pay
upon liquidation of the contracts, taking into account the change in currency exchange rates. The company determines
the fair value of the auction rate securities by obtaining indications of value from brokers/dealers. The company
determines the fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration based on assessment of the probability that
the company would be required to make such future payment. Changes to the fair value are recorded in selling,
general and administrative expense. The following tables provide a rollforward of the fair value, as determined by
Level 3 inputs, of the auction rate securities and contingent consideration.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Auction Rate Securities
Beginning Balance $ 4.5 $ 5.2 $ 4.6 $ 5.4
Sale of securities (0.2 ) (0.2 ) (0.3 ) (0.4 )
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Total unrealized gains (losses) included in other
comprehensive income 0.1 (0.1 ) 0.1 (0.1 )

Ending Balance $ 4.4 $ 4.9 $ 4.4 $ 4.9
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

12.     Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Contingent Consideration
Beginning Balance $ 3.8 $ 22.3 $ 28.7 $ 0.6
Additions — 1.8 — 23.5
Payments (0.1 ) — (25.1 ) —
Currency translation 0.1 — 0.2 —

Ending Balance $ 3.8 $ 24.1 $ 3.8 $ 24.1

The notional amounts of derivative contracts outstanding, primarily consisting of foreign currency exchange contracts,
interest rate swaps, and interest rate locks, totaled $5.41 billion and $1.78 billion at July 2, 2011 and December 31,
2010, respectively.

The following tables present the fair value of derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheet and statement of
income.

Fair Value – Assets Fair Value – Liabilities

July 2,
December

31, July 2,
December

31,
(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
   Interest rate swaps and treasury locks (a) $ 59.0 $ 37.3 $ — $ —
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
   Foreign currency exchange contracts (b) 33.0 2.8 5.2 3.5

      Total derivatives $ 92.0 $ 40.1 $ 5.2 $ 3.5

(a)  The fair value of the interest rate swaps is included in the consolidated balance sheet under the captions other
assets or other long-term liabilities. The
      fair value of the treasury locks is included in the consolidated balance sheet under the caption other current assets.
(b)  The fair value of the foreign currency exchange contracts is included in the consolidated balance sheet under the
captions other current assets or other
       accrued expenses.

 Gain (Loss) Recognized
 Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
 July 2,  July 3,  July 2, July 3,

(In millions)  2011  2010  2011  2010
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Derivatives Designated as Fair Value Hedges
   Interest rate swaps $ 6.9 $ 5.2 $ 13.3 $ 8.6
Derivatives Not Designated as Fair Value Hedges
   Foreign currency exchange contracts 33.6 21.1 6.9 39.0
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

12.     Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Gains and losses recognized on interest rate and foreign currency exchange contracts are included in the consolidated
statement of income under the caption other expense, net, together with the corresponding, offsetting losses and gains
on the underlying hedged transactions except for the exchange rate hedges entered in June 2011 in anticipation of
completing the Phadia acquisition (discussed below). The gains on these contracts have no underlying offset in the
company's income statement.

On May 19, 2011, in connection with the planned acquisition of Phadia, the company entered into several foreign
currency forward contracts to partly mitigate the currency exchange risk associated with the payment of the
Euro-denominated purchase price and the planned repayment of multi-currency debt on the Phadia books. As of July
2, 2011, the currencies hedged included the Euro, Swedish krona and Japanese yen, with the aggregate notional
amount totaling $2.34 billion. These currency forward contracts were not able to be designated as hedging instruments
and therefore the change in the derivative fair value is marked to market through income/expense, resulting in a $33
million gain included in other expense, net, during the three months ended July 2, 2011. The maturity date of these
currency forward contracts is November 1, 2011.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amount and fair value of the company’s notes receivable and debt obligations are as follows:

July 2, 2011 December 31, 2010
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(In millions) Value Value Value Value

Notes Receivable $ 6.5 $ 6.5 $ 7.4 $ 7.4

Debt Obligations:
   Convertible obligations $ — $ — $ 327.9 $ 461.4
   Senior notes 3,990.6 4,101.1 1,784.9 1,806.3
   Other 36.7 36.7 24.3 24.3

$ 4,027.3 $ 4,137.8 $ 2,137.1 $ 2,292.0

   The fair value of debt obligations was determined based on quoted market prices and on borrowing rates available to
the company at the respective period ends.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

13.     Warranty Obligations

Product warranties are included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheet. The changes in the
carrying amount of warranty obligations are as follows:

Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3,

(In millions) 2011 2010

Beginning Balance $ 41.7 $ 45.2
   Provision charged to income 24.6 20.9
   Usage (27.3 ) (20.5 )
   Acquisitions 2.9 0.2
   Adjustments to previously provided warranties, net (0.3 ) 0.2
   Other, net 1.9 (2.0 )

Ending Balance $ 43.5 $ 44.0

14.     Restructuring and Other Costs, Net

Restructuring and other costs in the first six months of 2011 in both segments primarily included cash compensation
from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex employees at the date of acquisition as well as continuing charges for
headcount reductions and facility consolidations in an effort to streamline operations, including the consolidation of
facilities in Finland and Australia of acquired businesses with existing facilities in those countries. As of August 5,
2011, the company has identified restructuring actions that will result in additional charges of approximately $40
million, primarily in the remainder of 2011.

During the second quarter of 2011, the company recorded net restructuring and other costs by segment as follows:

(In millions)
Analytical

Technologies

Laboratory
Products and

Services Corporate Total

Cost of Revenues $ 15.2 $ 0.2 $ — $ 15.4
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 38.0 — — 38.0
Restructuring and Other Costs, Net 28.7 10.8 0.4 39.9

$ 81.9 $ 11.0 $ 0.4 $ 93.3
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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14.    Restructuring and Other Costs, Net (continued)

         During the first six months of 2011, the company recorded net restructuring and other costs by segment as
follows:

(In millions)
Analytical

Technologies

Laboratory
Products and

Services Corporate Total

Cost of Revenues $ 16.0 $ 2.3 $ — $ 18.3
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 41.1 — — 41.1
Restructuring and Other Costs, Net 40.3 14.3 0.6 55.2

$ 97.4 $ 16.6 $ 0.6 $ 114.6

   The components of net restructuring and other costs by segment are as follows:

Analytical Technologies

The Analytical Technologies segment recorded $81.9 million of net restructuring and other charges in the second
quarter of 2011. The segment recorded charges to cost of revenues of $15.2 million primarily for the sale of
inventories revalued at the date of acquisition; charges to selling, general and administrative expenses of $38.0 million
for transaction costs, net, related to the Dionex and Phadia acquisitions (Note 2); and $28.7 million of other
restructuring costs, substantially all of which were cash costs. These costs included $21.6 million of cash
compensation from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex employees at the date of acquisition. The remaining
cash costs, which were primarily associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations to streamline
operations, consisted of $6.0 million of severance for approximately 40 employees; $0.7 million of abandoned facility
costs; and $0.4 million of other cash costs, primarily retention, relocation and moving expenses associated with
facility consolidations.

In the first six months of 2011, the Analytical Technologies segment recorded $97.4 million of net restructuring and
other charges. The segment recorded charges to cost of revenues of $16.0 million primarily for the sale of inventories
revalued at the date of acquisition and accelerated depreciation at facilities closing due to real estate consolidation;
charges to selling, general and administrative expenses of $41.1 million for transaction costs, net, primarily related to
the Dionex and Phadia acquisitions; and $40.3 million of other restructuring costs, substantially all of which were cash
costs. These costs included $21.6 million of cash compensation from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex
employees at the date of acquisition. The Analytical Technologies segment also recorded continuing cash costs
associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations to streamline operations, including the consolidation
of a manufacturing and sales facility in Finland of an acquired business with an existing facility in that country, which
consisted of $13.2 million of severance for approximately 120 employees; $4.7 million of abandoned facility costs;
and $1.0 million of other cash costs, primarily retention, relocation and moving expenses associated with facility
consolidations.

Laboratory Products and Services
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The Laboratory Products and Services segment recorded $11.0 million of net restructuring and other charges in the
second quarter of 2011. The segment recorded charges to cost of revenues of $0.2 million primarily for the sale of
inventories revalued at the date of acquisition and $10.8 million of other restructuring costs, $7.8 million of which
were cash costs. The cash costs, which were associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations,
included $6.5 million of severance for approximately 200 employees; $1.1 million of abandoned facility costs; and
$0.2 million of other cash costs associated with restructuring actions. The costs include expenses related to
consolidation of several facilities of an acquired business in Australia with an existing facility in that country. The
$3.0 million of non-cash costs were primarily related to a loss on sale of a heating equipment business.

In the first six months of 2011, the Laboratory Products and Services segment recorded $16.6 million of net
restructuring and other charges. The segment recorded charges to cost of revenues of $2.3 million for the sale of
inventories revalued at the date of acquisition and accelerated depreciation at facilities closing due to real estate
consolidation and $14.3 million of other restructuring costs, $11.3 million of which were cash costs. The cash costs,
which were associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations, included $9.2 million of severance for
approximately 310 employees; $1.5 million of abandoned facility costs; and $0.6 million of other cash costs
associated with restructuring actions. The $3.0 million of non-cash costs were primarily related to a loss on sale of a
heating equipment business.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

14.     Restructuring and Other Costs, Net (continued)

Corporate

The company recorded $0.6 million in restructuring charges at its corporate operations, all of which were cash costs
for non-executive severance, in the first six months of 2011.

         The following table summarizes the cash components of the company’s restructuring plans. The non-cash
components and other amounts reported as restructuring and other costs, net, in the accompanying statement of
income have been summarized in the notes to the tables. Accrued restructuring costs are included in other accrued
expenses in the accompanying balance sheet.

Abandonment

(In millions) Severance
of Excess
Facilities Other (a) Total

Pre-2010 Restructuring Plans
   Balance At December 31, 2010 $ 7.1 $ 4.8 $ 0.1 $ 12.0
   Costs incurred in 2011 (b) 0.1 0.8 0.1 1.0
   Reserves reversed (0.1 ) — — (0.1 )
   Payments (2.7 ) (2.0 ) (0.1 ) (4.8 )
   Currency translation 0.4 0.1 — 0.5

   Balance At July 2, 2011 $ 4.8 $ 3.7 $ 0.1 $ 8.6

2010 Restructuring Plans
   Balance At December 31, 2010 $ 3.2 $ 0.9 $ 0.1 $ 4.2
   Costs incurred in 2011 (b) 4.1 0.1 0.5 4.7
   Payments (2.6 ) (0.5 ) (0.5 ) (3.6 )
   Currency translation 0.2 — — 0.2

   Balance At July 2, 2011 $ 4.9 $ 0.5 $ 0.1 $ 5.5

2011 Restructuring Plans
   Costs incurred in 2011 (b) $ 18.9 $ 5.3 $ 22.6 $ 46.8
   Payments (9.1 ) (2.7 ) (0.7 ) (12.5 )
   Currency translation 0.1 0.2 — 0.3

   Balance At July 2, 2011 $ 9.9 $ 2.8 $ 21.9 $ 34.6

(a)  Other includes cash compensation from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex employees at the date of
acquisition and employee retention costs
       which are accrued ratably over the period through which employees must work to qualify for a payment.
(b)  Excludes an aggregate of $3 million of non-cash expense, net.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

14.    Restructuring and Other Costs, Net (continued)

         The company expects to pay accrued restructuring costs as follows: severance and other costs, primarily through
2011; and abandoned-facility payments, over lease terms expiring through 2018.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-looking statements, within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made
throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Any
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.
Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “seeks,” “estimates,” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. While the company may elect to update
forward-looking statements in the future, it specifically disclaims any obligation to do so, even if the company’s
estimates change, and readers should not rely on those forward-looking statements as representing the company’s
views as of any date subsequent to the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report.

A number of important factors could cause the results of the company to differ materially from those indicated by
such forward-looking statements, including those detailed under the heading “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this
report on Form 10-Q.

Overview of Results of Operations and Liquidity

The company develops, manufactures and sells a broad range of products that are sold worldwide. The company
expands the product lines and services it offers by developing and commercializing its own technologies and by
making strategic acquisitions of complementary businesses. The company’s continuing operations fall into two
business segments: Analytical Technologies and Laboratory Products and Services.

The results of two businesses sold on April 4, 2011, have been classified and presented as discontinued operations in
the accompanying financial statements. Prior period results have been adjusted to conform to this presentation. The
results discussed below refer to the company’s continuing operations unless otherwise noted.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3, July 2, July 3,

(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenues
Analytical
Technologies $ 1,282.3 44.3% $ 1,074.9 41.4% $ 2,460.0 43.8% $ 2,158.3 41.3%
Laboratory
Products and
Services 1,756.9 60.6% 1,653.7 63.7% 3,442.2 61.3% 3,324.3 63.7%
Eliminations (141.8 ) (4.9)% (132.9 ) (5.1)% (283.4 ) (5.1)% (260.0 ) (5.0)%

$ 2,897.4 100% $ 2,595.7 100% $ 5,618.8 100% $ 5,222.6 100%

Sales in the second quarter of 2011 were $2.90 billion, an increase of $302 million from the second quarter of 2010.
The increase was due to the favorable effects of currency translation, acquisitions, including Dionex, and, to a lesser
extent, higher sales at existing businesses. Had Dionex and the company been combined from the beginning of 2010,
pro forma revenues would have increased $253 million over pro forma 2010 revenues. Aside from the effects of
currency translation and other acquisitions, net of divestitures, pro forma revenues increased $97 million (4%) over
pro forma 2010 revenues (discussed in total and by segment below). The increase was primarily due to increased
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demand, offset in part by lower sales resulting from cessation of a supply contract, discussed below, which decreased
sales by approximately 1 percentage point.

The company’s strategy is to augment internal growth at existing businesses with complementary acquisitions such as
those completed in 2011 and 2010. The company’s principal recent acquisitions are described below.

•  
Dionex, a global leader in the manufacturing and marketing of ion and liquid chromatography and sample
preparation systems, consumables, and
software for chemical analysis, was acquired in May 2011 to expand the company’s chromatography system
portfolio.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Overview of Results of Operations and Liquidity (continued)

•  
Fermentas, a manufacturer and global distributor of enzymes, reagents and kits for molecular and cellular
biology research, was acquired in July
2010 to expand the company’s ability to provide complete workflows for genomics research.

•  
Finnzymes, a provider of integrated tools for molecular biology analysis, including reagents, instruments,
consumables and kits, was
acquired in March 2010 to expand the company’s portfolio of reagents and other consumables for the molecular
biology research and diagnostics
markets.

•  
Ahura Scientific, a provider of handheld spectroscopy instruments that are used worldwide in the identification
of chemicals for safety, security
and pharmaceutical applications, was acquired in February 2010 to expand the company’s portfolio of portable
analytical devices.

   On May 19, 2011, the company entered into an agreement to acquire the Phadia group, a global leader in allergy and
autoimmunity diagnostics, headquartered in Sweden, for approximately €1.05 billion in cash and the repayment of
certain indebtedness owed by Phadia to the seller and third party lenders. As of the date of the agreement, the amount
of this debt totaled approximately €1.41 billion, making the total purchase price approximately $3.51 billion, based on
exchange rates at the time of the announcement. The acquisition will be part of the Analytical Technologies segment.
The closing of the transaction is subject to certain conditions, including the receipt of regulatory approvals. Phadia’s
revenues in 2010 totaled €367 million (approximately $525 million based on exchange rates at the time of the
announcement).

In the second quarter of 2011, total company operating income and operating income margin were $266 million and
9.2%, respectively, compared with $298 million and 11.5%, respectively, in 2010. The decreases in operating income
and operating income margin were primarily due to acquisition-related charges totaling $75 million and an increase in
amortization expense of $13 million in the second quarter of 2011, following the acquisition of Dionex, offset in part
by productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives, lower operating costs following restructuring actions and,
to a lesser extent, profit on incremental sales including from acquisitions and existing businesses.

The company’s effective tax rates were 14.9% and 12.4% in the second quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
company expects its effective tax rate for the full year 2011 to be between 15% and 16% based on currently forecasted
profitability in the countries in which the company conducts business. The tax provision in the second quarter of 2010
was favorably affected by $5.8 million or 2.2 percentage points resulting from a loss on the early extinguishment of
debt.

Income from continuing operations decreased to $218 million in the second quarter of 2011, from $229 million in the
second quarter of 2010, primarily due to the items discussed above that decreased operating income and a higher tax
rate, offset in part by lower other expense in 2011.

During the first six months of 2011, the company’s cash flow from operations totaled $693 million (including $13
million from discontinued operations), compared with $627 million (including $18 million from discontinued
operations) for the first six months of 2010. The increase resulted from reduced investment in several working capital
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components, offset in part by the timing of income tax payments.

As of July 2, 2011, the company’s outstanding debt totaled $4.03 billion. In addition, the company has an unsecured
revolving credit agreement expiring in August 2012 with available capacity of $952 million at July 2, 2011 and in
May 2011, the company obtained short-term financing commitments to fund $3 billion of the purchase price of the
pending Phadia acquisition. The commitment consists of a short-term revolving credit facility for up to $1 billion and
short-term bridge financing for up to $2 billion (See Note 9). The company expects to arrange long-term financing to
fund the acquisition of Phadia in the near-term.

The company believes that its existing cash and short-term investments of $1.36 billion as of July 2, 2011, and the
company’s future cash flow from operations together with available borrowing capacity under its revolving credit
agreement and short-term financing commitments, are sufficient to fund the acquisition of Phadia and to meet the cash
requirements of its existing businesses for the foreseeable future, including at least the next 24 months.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations is based upon its financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Management believes the most complex and sensitive judgments, because of their significance
to the consolidated financial statements, result primarily from the need to make estimates about the effects of matters
that are inherently uncertain. Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the company’s Form 10-K for 2010, describe the significant accounting estimates and policies used in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results in these areas may differ from management’s
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. There have been no significant changes in the company’s critical
accounting policies during the first six months of 2011.

Results of Operations

Second Quarter 2011 Compared With Second Quarter 2010

Continuing Operations

Sales in the second quarter of 2011 were $2.90 billion, an increase of $302 million from the second quarter of 2010.
The increase was due to the favorable effects of currency translation acquisitions, including Dionex, and, to a lesser
extent, higher sales at existing businesses. Had Dionex and the company been combined from the beginning of 2010,
pro forma revenues would have increased $253 million over pro forma second quarter of 2010 revenues, including
$32 million due to other acquisitions, net of divestitures, $124 million due to the favorable effects of currency
translation and $97 million (4%) due to higher revenues at existing businesses. The increase in revenues at existing
businesses was primarily due to increased demand and, to a lesser extent, price increases, offset in part by lower sales
resulting from cessation of a supply contract, discussed below, which decreased sales by approximately 1 percentage
point. Sales growth was strong in Asia, modest in North America and down slightly in Europe. Sales in North
America were affected by the cessation of the supply contract.

In the second quarter of 2011, total company operating income and operating income margin were $266 million and
9.2%, respectively, compared with $298 million and 11.5%, respectively, in 2010. The decreases in operating income
and operating income margin were primarily due to acquisition-related charges totaling $75 million and an increase in
amortization expense of $13 million in the second quarter of 2011, following the acquisition of Dionex, offset in part
by productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives, lower operating costs following restructuring actions and,
to a lesser extent, profit on incremental sales including from acquisitions and existing businesses.

In the second quarter of 2011, the company recorded restructuring and other costs, net, of $93 million, including $15
million of charges to cost of revenues related to the sale of inventories revalued at the date of acquisition and
accelerated depreciation on manufacturing assets to be abandoned due to facility consolidations and $38 million of
charges to selling, general and administrative expenses for transaction costs, net, primarily related to the acquisitions
of Dionex and Phadia. The company incurred $37 million of cash costs, including $22 million of cash compensation
from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex employees at the date of acquisition. The cash costs also include
continuing costs associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations in an effort to streamline operations,

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

48



including severance to reduce headcount at several businesses and abandoned facility expenses at businesses that have
been or are being consolidated, such as the consolidation of facilities of acquired businesses in Finland and Australia
with existing facilities in those countries. The company recorded $3 million of non-cash costs primarily for a loss on
sale of a heating equipment business (see Note 14).
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

In the second quarter of 2010, the company recorded restructuring and other costs, net, of $12 million, including $4
million of charges to cost of revenues related to the sale of inventory revalued at the date of acquisition and
accelerated depreciation on manufacturing assets to be abandoned due to facility consolidations. The company
incurred $8 million of cash costs primarily for actions in response to the downturn in the economy and reduced
revenues including severance to reduce headcount at several businesses and abandoned facility expenses at businesses
that have been or are being consolidated.

As of August 5, 2011, the company has identified restructuring actions that will result in additional charges of
approximately $40 million in 2011 and expects to identify additional actions during the remainder of 2011. The
restructuring actions initiated in the first six months of 2011 are expected to result in annual cost savings of
approximately $40 million.

Segment Results

The company’s management evaluates segment operating performance using operating income before certain
charges/credits to cost of revenues and selling, general and administrative expenses, principally associated with
acquisition accounting; restructuring and other costs/income including costs arising from facility consolidations such
as severance and abandoned lease expense and gains and losses from the sale of real estate and product lines; and
amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. The company uses these measures because it helps management
understand and evaluate the segments’ core operating results and facilitate comparison of performance for determining
compensation (Note 3). Accordingly, the following segment data is reported on this basis.

Three Months Ended
July 2, July 3,

(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 Change

Revenues
    Analytical Technologies $ 1,282.3 $ 1,074.9 19%
    Laboratory Products and Services 1,756.9 1,653.7 6%
    Eliminations (141.8 ) (132.9 ) 7%

    Consolidated Revenues $ 2,897.4 $ 2,595.7 12%

Segment Income
    Analytical Technologies $ 271.2 $ 213.8 27%
    Laboratory Products and Services 239.1 233.6 2%

    Subtotal Reportable Segments 510.3 447.4 14%

    Cost of Revenues Charges (15.4 ) (3.7 )
    Selling, General and Administrative Charges, Net (38.0 ) 0.2
    Restructuring and Other Costs, Net (39.9 ) (8.2 )
    Amortization of Acquisition-related Intangible Assets (151.2 ) (137.8 )
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    Consolidated Operating Income $ 265.8 $ 297.9 (11)%

Reportable Segments Operating Income Margin 17.6 % 17.2 %

Consolidated Operating Income Margin 9.2 % 11.5 %

Income from the company’s reportable segments increased 14% to $510 million in the second quarter of 2011 due
primarily to productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives, lower operating costs following restructuring
actions and, to a lesser extent, profit on incremental sales including from acquisitions and existing businesses. The
company also refers to this measure as adjusted operating income.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

   Analytical Technologies

  Three Months Ended
  July 2, July 3,

(Dollars in millions)   2011   2010 Change

Revenues $ 1,282.3 $ 1,074.9 19%

Operating Income Margin 21.1% 19.9% 1.2

Sales in the Analytical Technologies segment increased $207 million to $1.28 billion in the second quarter of 2011.
The increase was due to acquisitions, including Dionex, the favorable effects of currency translation and, to a lesser
extent, higher revenues at existing businesses. Had Dionex and the company been combined from the beginning of
2010, pro forma revenues would have increased $159 million over pro forma 2010 revenues, including increases of
$19 million due to other acquisitions, $69 million due to the favorable effects of currency translation and $71 million
(6%) due to higher revenues at existing businesses. The increase in revenue at existing businesses was primarily due
to increased demand. Demand was particularly strong for instruments serving industrial and applied markets and for
clinical diagnostics products.

Operating income margin was 21.1% in the second quarter of 2011 and 19.9% in the second quarter of 2010. The
increase resulted from profit on incremental sales, productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives and, to a
lesser extent, price increases.

   Laboratory Products and Services

 Three Months Ended
 July 2,  July 3,

(Dollars in millions)  2011  2010  Change

Revenues $ 1,756.9 $ 1,653.7 6%

Operating Income Margin 13.6% 14.1% (0.5 )

Sales in the Laboratory Products and Services segment increased $103 million to $1.76 billion in the second quarter of
2011. The favorable effects of currency translation resulted in an increase in revenues of $57 million in 2011. Sales
increased $13 million due to acquisitions. In addition to the changes in revenue resulting from currency translation
and acquisitions, revenues increased $33 million (2%) primarily due to increased demand for biopharma outsourcing
services, offset in part by cessation of a supply contract, discussed below.

In November 2009, a significant supplier of the company’s healthcare market channel notified the company that it
intended to cease an existing supply arrangement in mid-2010. The company believes this was in part a response to
the company’s strategic decision to expand its product offerings to provide its customers with a broader menu of
diagnostic solutions. The company has signed an agreement with an alternative supplier of laboratory products and
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has begun selling these and other products from the new supplier offsetting a portion of the drop in revenue. As a
result of these events, sales were unfavorably affected by $23 million, net, in the second quarter of 2011.

Operating income margin decreased to 13.6% in the second quarter of 2011 from 14.1% in the second quarter of 2010,
primarily due to unfavorable product sales mix, commercial investments and inflationary pressures on raw material
costs, particularly steel and plastic resin. These decreases were offset in part by productively improvements.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

Other Expense, Net

The company reported other expense, net, of $10 million and $37 million in the second quarter of 2011 and 2010,
respectively (Note 4). Other expense, net includes interest income, interest expense, equity in earnings of
unconsolidated subsidiaries and other items, net. The decrease was primarily due to higher other items, net and higher
interest income, offset in part by a $15 million increase in interest expense.  The increase in interest expense was
related to the debt issued to fund the Dionex acquisition, offset in part by having refinanced higher-rate debt during
2010. In 2011, other items, net includes a $33 million gain on currency exchange contracts associated with the
pending Phadia acquisition, offset in part by $10 million of fees associated with short-term financing commitments to
fund the Phadia acquisition and in 2010, a $15 million loss on the early extinguishment of debt.

Provision for Income Taxes

The company’s effective tax rates were 14.9% and 12.4% in the second quarter of 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
company expects its effective tax rate for the full year 2011 to be between 15% and 16% based on currently forecasted
profitability in the countries in which the company conducts business. The tax provision in the second quarter of 2010
was favorably affected by $5.8 million or 2.2 percentage points resulting from a loss on the early extinguishment of
debt.

Contingent Liabilities

The company is contingently liable with respect to certain legal proceedings and related matters. An unfavorable
outcome in one or more of the matters described under “Litigation and Related Contingencies” in Note 10 could
materially affect the company’s financial position as well as its results of operations and cash flows.

Discontinued Operations

On April 4, 2011, the company sold, in separate transactions, its Athena Diagnostics business (Athena), part of the
Analytical Technologies segment, for $740 million in cash and its Lancaster Laboratories business (Lancaster), part of
the Laboratory Products and Services segment, for $180 million in cash and escrowed proceeds of $20 million, due in
October 2012. The sale of these businesses resulted in an after-tax gain of $304 million or $0.78 per diluted share.
Revenues and operating income of the two businesses aggregated approximately $225 million and $60 million,
respectively, in 2010. Athena provides diagnostic testing for neurological and other diseases, with an emphasis on
gene-based tests. Lancaster is a contract-testing laboratory that provides analytical laboratory services. The results of
both businesses have been included in the accompanying financial statements as discontinued operations for all
periods presented (Note 2). After-tax income from discontinued operations was $8.6 million, in the second quarter of
2010. The company also received additional proceeds from a previously divested business in the second quarter of
2011, resulting in an after-tax gain of $1 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, new guidance was issued pertaining to the presentation of comprehensive income. The new rule
eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes in
equity. The standard is intended to provide a more consistent method of presenting non-owner transactions that affect
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the company’s equity. Under the new guidance, an entity can elect to present items of net income and other
comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in two separate, but consecutive, statements. The new guidance
is effective for fiscal years that begin after December 15, 2011. Adoption of this standard will not have an impact on
the company’s results of operations or financial position.

In May 2011, the FASB amended existing rules covering fair value measurement and disclosure to clarify guidance
and minimize differences between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The new
guidance requires entities to provide information about valuation techniques and unobservable inputs used in Level 3
fair value measurements and provide a narrative description of the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements to changes in
unobservable inputs. The guidance will be effective for the company on January 1, 2012 and is not expected to have a
material impact on its financial statements.

31

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

55



THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

First Six Months 2011 Compared With First Six Months 2010

Continuing Operations

Sales in the first six months of 2011 were $5.62 billion, an increase of $396 million from the first six months of 2010.
The increase was due to the favorable effects of currency translation, acquisitions, including Dionex, and, to a lesser
extent, higher revenues at existing businesses. Had Dionex and the company been combined from the beginning of
2010, pro forma revenues would have increased $359 million over the pro forma first six months of 2010 revenues,
including $73 million due to other acquisitions, net of divestitures, $155 million due to the favorable effects of
currency translation and $131 million (2%) due to higher revenues at existing businesses. The increase in revenues at
existing businesses was primarily due to increased demand, offset in part by lower sales resulting from cessation of a
supply contract, discussed below, and lower stimulus-funded sales in Japan as compared to 2010, which together
decreased sales by approximately 2 percentage points. Sales growth was strong in Asia and modest in Europe and
North America. The results in North America and Asia were affected by the cessation of the supply contract and the
lower stimulus-funded sales in Japan, respectively.

In the first six months of 2011, operating income and operating income margin were $587 million and 10.5%,
respectively, compared with $583 million and 11.2%, respectively, in 2010. The decrease in operating income margin
was primarily due to $81 million of acquisition-related charges principally related to Dionex. The decrease was offset
in part by productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives and lower operating costs following restructuring
actions.

In the first six months of 2011, the company recorded restructuring and other costs, net, of $115 million, including
$18 million of charges to cost of revenues related to the sale of inventories revalued at the date of acquisition and
accelerated depreciation on manufacturing assets to be abandoned due to facility consolidations and $41 million of
charges to selling, general and administrative expenses for transaction costs, net, primarily related to the acquisitions
of Dionex and Phadia. The company incurred $52 million of cash costs, including $22 million of cash compensation
from monetizing equity awards held by Dionex employees at the date of acquisition. The cash costs also include
continuing costs associated with headcount reductions and facility consolidations in an effort to streamline operations,
including severance to reduce headcount at several businesses and abandoned facility expenses at businesses that have
been or are being consolidated, such as the consolidation of facilities of acquired businesses in Finland and Australia
with existing facilities in those countries. The company also recorded $3 million of non-cash costs primarily for a loss
on sale of a heating equipment business (see Note 14).

In the first six months of 2010, the company recorded restructuring and other costs, net, of $35 million, including $9
million of charges to cost of revenues related to the sale of inventory revalued at the date of acquisition and
accelerated depreciation on manufacturing assets to be abandoned due to facility consolidations and $1 million of
charges to selling, general and administrative expenses for transaction costs related to the acquisition of Finnzymes.
The company incurred $20 million of cash costs primarily for actions in response to the downturn in the economy and
reduced revenues including severance to reduce headcount at several businesses and abandoned facility expenses at
businesses that have been consolidated. The company also incurred a $6 million charge on a patent infringement claim
initiated prior to a business unit’s acquisition by the company.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

Segment Results

Six Months Ended
July 2, July 3,

(Dollars in millions) 2011 2010 Change

Revenues
    Analytical Technologies $ 2,460.0 $ 2,158.3 14%
    Laboratory Products and Services 3,442.2 3,324.3 4%
    Eliminations (283.4 ) (260.0 ) 9%

    Consolidated Revenues $ 5,618.8 $ 5,222.6 8%

Segment Income
    Analytical Technologies $ 518.8 $ 437.1 19%
    Laboratory Products and Services 469.7 465.2 1%

    Subtotal Reportable Segments 988.5 902.3 10%

    Cost of Revenues Charges (18.3 ) (8.8 )
    Selling, General and Administrative Charges, Net (41.1 ) (0.9 )
    Restructuring and Other Costs, Net (55.2 ) (25.6 )
    Amortization of Acquisition-related Intangible Assets (286.6 ) (284.5 )

    Consolidated Operating Income $ 587.3 $ 582.5 1%

Reportable Segments Operating Income Margin 17.6% 17.3%

Consolidated Operating Income Margin 10.5% 11.2%

Income from the company’s reportable segments increased 10% to $989 million in the first six months of 2011 due
primarily to productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives and lower operating costs following restructuring
actions. The company also refers to this measure as adjusted operating income.

   Analytical Technologies

 Six Months Ended
 July 2,  July 3,

(Dollars in millions)  2011  2010  Change

Revenues $ 2,460.0 $ 2,158.3 14%

Operating Income Margin 21.1% 20.3% 0.8
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Sales in the Analytical Technologies segment increased $302 million to $2.46 billion in the first six months of 2011.
The increase was due to acquisitions, including Dionex, higher revenue at existing businesses and, to a lesser extent,
the favorable effects of currency translation. Had Dionex and the company been combined from the beginning of
2010, pro forma revenues would have increased $264 million over pro forma 2010 revenues, including increases of
$46 million due to other acquisitions, $86 million due to the favorable effects of currency translation and $133 million
(6%) due to higher revenues at existing businesses. The increase in revenue at existing businesses was primarily due
to increased demand. Demand was particularly strong for instruments serving industrial and applied markets and for
clinical diagnostics products. The increase in revenues was offset in part by lower stimulus-funded sales in Japan in
the first six months of 2011 which decreased growth by 2 percentage points.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

Operating income margin was 21.1% in the first six months of 2011 and 20.3% in the first six months of 2010. The
increase resulted from productivity improvements, global sourcing initiatives, lower operating costs following
restructuring actions and, to a lesser extent, price increases and profit on incremental sales. These increases were
offset in part by higher spending on research and development initiatives.

   Laboratory Products and Services

 Six Months Ended
  July 2,   July 3,

(Dollars in millions)  2011  2010  Change

Revenues $ 3,442.2 $ 3,324.3 4%

Operating Income Margin 13.6% 14.0% (0.4 )

Sales in the Laboratory Products and Services segment increased $118 million to $3.44 billion in the first six months
of 2011. The favorable effects of currency translation resulted in an increase in revenues of $72 million in 2011. Sales
increased $27 million due to acquisitions. In addition to the changes in revenue resulting from currency translation
and acquisitions, revenues increased $19 million (1%) primarily due to increased demand for biopharma outsourcing
services, offset in part by cessation of a supply contract, which decreased revenue by $54 million or 1 percentage
point.

Operating income margin decreased to 13.6% in the first six months of 2011 from 14.0% in the first six months of
2010, primarily due to unfavorable product sales mix, commercial investments and inflationary pressures on raw
material costs, particularly steel and plastic resin. These decreases were offset in part by productivity improvements.

Other Expense, Net

The company reported other expense, net, of $33 million and $62 million in first six months of 2011 and 2010,
respectively (Note 4). The decrease was primarily due to higher other items, net and higher interest income, offset in
part by a $21 million increase in interest expense. The increase in interest expense was related to the debt issued to
fund the Dionex acquisition, offset in part by having refinanced higher-rate debt during 2010. In 2011, other items, net
includes a $33 million gain on currency exchange contracts associated with the pending Phadia acquisition, offset in
part by $10 million of fees associated with short-term financing commitments to fund the Phadia acquisition and in
2010, a $16 million loss on the early extinguishment of debt.

Provision for Income Taxes

The company’s effective tax rates were 16.2% and 13.0% in the first six months of 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to increased earnings in higher tax jurisdictions. In addition, the tax
provision in the first six months of 2011 was unfavorably affected by $8.2 million, or 1.5 percentage points, as a result
of adjustments to deferred tax balances due to changes in tax rates offset in part by $1.5 million, or 0.3 percentage
points, for the favorable resolution of tax audits. The tax provision in the first six months of 2010 was favorably
affected by $5.8 million or 1.1 percentage points resulting from a loss on the early extinguishment of debt and by $1.9
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million, net, or 0.4 percentage points, resulting from the resolution of tax audits.
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Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Results of Operations (continued)

Discontinued Operations

As described above, on April 4, 2011, the company sold two businesses. The sale of these businesses resulted in an
after-tax gain of $304 million or $0.78 per diluted share. The results of both businesses have been included in the
accompanying financial statements as discontinued operations for all periods presented. After-tax income from
discontinued operations was $5.5 million and $13.8 million, in the first six months of 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The company also received additional proceeds from a previously divested business in the second quarter of 2011,
resulting in an after-tax gain of $1 million.

During the first quarter of 2010, the company recorded additional proceeds related to a business divested in 2003,
resulting in an after-tax gain of $2.5 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated working capital was $3.19 billion at July 2, 2011, compared with $2.43 billion at December 31, 2010.
Included in working capital were cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $1.36 billion at July 2, 2011
and $0.93 billion at December 31, 2010. The increase in cash was primarily due to the proceeds from the sales of
Athena and Lancaster and cash provided by operations offset in part by the repurchase of the company’s common stock
and redemption of debt. The acquisition of Dionex was funded by the proceeds of long-term debt.

First Six Months of 2011

Cash provided by operating activities was $693 million during the first six months of 2011. Increases in accounts
receivable and inventory used cash of $67 million and $65 million, respectively, primarily to support growth in sales.
An increase in accounts payable provided cash of $58 million, primarily due to higher inventory purchases. Payments
for restructuring actions, principally severance costs and lease and other expenses of real estate consolidation, used
cash of $21 million during the first six months of 2011.

During the first six months of 2011, the company’s primary investing activities included acquisitions and the purchase
of property, plant and equipment. The company expended $2.09 billion for acquisitions, including contingent earn-out
payments and $123 million for purchases of property, plant and equipment. The company’s continuing operations had
cash proceeds from a divestiture of $14 million and the company’s discontinued operations had net cash proceeds of
$834 million, primarily from the sale of Athena and Lancaster. In July 2011, the company acquired a provider of
microbiology solutions for approximately $48 million in cash.

The company has no material commitments for purchases of property, plant and equipment and expects that for all of
2011, such expenditures will approximate between $290 and $310 million. Other than the issuance of debt discussed
in Note 9 and the agreement to acquire Phadia discussed in Note 2, the company’s contractual obligations and other
commercial commitments did not change materially between December 31, 2010 and July 2, 2011.

The company’s financing activities provided $1.13 billion of cash during the first six months of 2011, principally for
the issuance of debt (Note 9) offset in part by the repurchase of $763 million of the company’s common stock.
Following issuance of a redemption notice for the remaining $329 million principal outstanding of the company’s
3.25% Senior Subordinated Convertible Notes due 2024, all of the balance was converted or redeemed for a total cash
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outlay of $452 million. The company’s financing activities also included $142 million of proceeds of employee stock
option exercises. On February 23, 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $750
million of the company’s common stock through February 22, 2012. At July 2, 2011, $475 million was available for
future repurchases of the company’s common stock under this authorization.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 2.           Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
                      Liquidity and Capital Resources (continued)

As of July 2, 2011, the company’s outstanding debt totaled $4.03 billion. In addition, the company has an unsecured
revolving credit agreement expiring in August 2012 with available capacity of $952 million at July 2, 2011 and in
May 2011, the company obtained short-term financing commitments to fund $3 billion of the purchase price of the
pending Phadia acquisition. The commitment consists of a short-term revolving credit facility for up to $1 billion and
short-term bridge financing for up to $2 billion (See Note 9). The company expects to arrange long-term financing to
fund the acquisition of Phadia in the near-term.

The company believes that its existing cash and short-term investments of $1.36 billion as of July 2, 2011, and the
company’s future cash flow from operations together with available borrowing capacity under its revolving credit
agreement and short-term financing commitments, are sufficient to fund the acquisition of Phadia and to meet the cash
requirements of its existing businesses for the foreseeable future, including at least the next 24 months.

First Six Months of 2010

Cash provided by operating activities was $627 million during the first six months of 2010. Increases in accounts
receivable and inventory used cash of $100 million and $51 million, respectively, primarily to support growth in sales.
An increase in accounts payable provided cash of $52 million, primarily due to timing of payments.

During the first six months of 2010, the company’s primary investing activities included acquisitions and the purchase
of property, plant and equipment. The company expended $288 million for acquisitions and $105 million for
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

The company’s financing activities used $492 million of cash during the first six months of 2010, principally for the
extinguishment of debt and repurchase of $188 million of the company’s common stock, offset in part by the net
proceeds for the issuance of long-term debt of $742 million. The company used the net proceeds from the issuance of
debt and existing cash balances to convert all of the $326 million principal outstanding on its Floating Rate
Convertible Debentures due 2033 for a total cash outlay of $573 million and to redeem all of its $500 million
outstanding 6 1/8% Senior Subordinated Notes at a redemption price of $1,030.63 per $1,000 principal amount for a
total cash outlay of $515 million. The company’s financing activities in the first six months of 2010 also included $49
million of proceeds of employee stock option exercises.

Item 3.           Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

   The company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates and equity prices,
which could affect its future results of operations and financial condition as described in Item 7A of the company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, filed with the SEC. Certain of the
exposures described in the Form 10-K have changed as indicated below.

Interest Rates

In February 2011, the company issued $2.2 billion principal amount of senior notes and entered into an interest rate
swap arrangement on a portion of the newly issued debt (see Note 9). The fair market value of the company’s fixed
interest rate debt and interest rate swap arrangements are subject to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair market value
of fixed interest rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. The total estimated fair
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value of the company’s debt and interest rate swap arrangements at July 2, 2011 was $4.14 billion and $50 million,
respectively (see Note 12). For the debt, fair values were determined from available market prices using current
interest rates and terms to maturity. For the interest rate swap arrangements, the fair value is the estimated amount that
the company would receive upon liquidation of the contracts. If interest rates were to decrease by 100 basis points, the
fair value of the company’s debt and interest rate swap arrangements at July 2, 2011 would increase by approximately
$203 million and $45 million, respectively. If interest rates were to increase by 100 basis points, the fair value of the
company’s debt and interest rate swap arrangements at July 2, 2011 would decrease by approximately $190 million
and $43 million, respectively.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 3.           Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk (continued)

In addition, interest rate changes would result in a change in the company’s interest expense due to variable-rate debt
instruments including swap arrangements. A 100-basis-point increase in interest rates at July 2, 2011, would increase
the company’s annual pre-tax interest expense by approximately $15 million.

Currency Exchange Rates

In June 2011, the company entered into forward currency exchange contracts in anticipation of completing the Phadia
acquisition (see Note 12) The fair value of forward currency exchange contracts is the estimated amount that the
company would pay or receive upon termination of the contract, taking into account the change in currency exchange
rates. A 10% depreciation in non-functional currency exchange rates related to all of the company’s contracts at July 2,
2011 would result in a decrease in the unrealized gain on forward currency exchange contracts of $170 million. A
10% appreciation in non-functional currency exchange rates related to the company’s contracts at July 2, 2011 would
result in an increase in the unrealized gain on forward currency exchange contracts of $189 million.

Equity Prices

At year-end 2010, the company had outstanding convertible obligations which were sensitive to fluctuations in the
price of the company’s common stock. At July 2, 2011, the company no longer has any outstanding convertible
obligations and therefore is no longer materially exposed to market risk from changes in equity prices.

Item 4.           Controls and Procedures

   The company’s management, with the participation of the company’s chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of July 2, 2011. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means
controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of
the company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of July 2, 2011, the company’s chief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that, as of such date, the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

There have been no changes in the company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) during the fiscal quarter ended July 2, 2011, that have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect the company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART II        OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A.        Risk Factors
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   Set forth below are the risks that we believe are material to our investors. This section contains forward-looking
statements. You should refer to the explanation of the qualifications and limitations on forward-looking statements
beginning on page 26.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

We must develop new products, adapt to rapid and significant technological change and respond to introductions of
new products by competitors to remain competitive. Our growth strategy includes significant investment in and
expenditures for product development. We sell our products in several industries that are characterized by rapid and
significant technological changes, frequent new product and service introductions and enhancements and evolving
industry standards. Our competitors may adapt more quickly to new technologies and changes in customers’
requirements than we can. Without the timely introduction of new products, services and enhancements, our products
and services will likely become technologically obsolete over time, in which case our revenue and operating results
would suffer.

Many of our existing products and those under development are technologically innovative and require significant
planning, design, development and testing at the technological, product and manufacturing-process levels. Our
customers use many of our products to develop, test and manufacture their own products. As a result, we must
anticipate industry trends and develop products in advance of the commercialization of our customers’ products. If we
fail to adequately predict our customers’ needs and future activities, we may invest heavily in research and
development of products and services that do not lead to significant revenue.

It may be difficult for us to implement our strategies for improving internal growth. Some of the markets in which we
compete have been flat or declining over the past several years. To address this issue, we are pursuing a number of
strategies to improve our internal growth, including:

• strengthening our presence in selected geographic markets;

• allocating research and development funding to products with higher growth prospects;

• developing new applications for our technologies;

• expanding our service offerings;

• continuing key customer initiatives;

• combining sales and marketing operations in appropriate markets to compete more effectively;

• finding new markets for our products; and

•continuing the development of commercial tools and infrastructure to increase and support cross-selling opportunities
of products and services to
take advantage of our depth in product offerings.

We may not be able to successfully implement these strategies, and these strategies may not result in the expected
growth of our business.

Our business is affected by general economic conditions and related uncertainties affecting markets in which we
operate. The current economic environment could adversely impact our business in 2011 and beyond, resulting in:

• reduced demand for some of our products;
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• increased rate of order cancellations or delays;

• increased risk of excess and obsolete inventories;

• increased pressure on the prices for our products and services; and

• greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable.

Demand for some of our products depends on capital spending policies of our customers and on government funding
policies. Our customers include pharmaceutical and chemical companies, laboratories, universities, healthcare
providers, government agencies and public and private research institutions. Many factors, including public policy
spending priorities, available resources and product and economic cycles, have a significant effect on the capital
spending policies of these entities. These policies in turn can have a significant effect on the demand for our products.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

    As a multinational corporation, we are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could adversely
affect our cash flows and results of operations. International revenues account for a substantial portion of our
revenues, and we intend to continue expanding our presence in international markets. The exposure to fluctuations in
currency exchange rates takes on different forms. International revenues are subject to the risk that fluctuations in
exchange rates could adversely affect product demand and the profitability in U.S. dollars of products and services
provided by us in international markets, where payment for our products and services is made in the local currency.
As a multinational corporation, our businesses occasionally invoice third-party customers in currencies other than the
one in which they primarily do business (the “functional currency”). Movements in the invoiced currency relative to the
functional currency could adversely impact our cash flows and our results of operations. In addition, reported sales
made in non-U.S. currencies by our international businesses, when translated into U.S. dollars for financial reporting
purposes, fluctuate due to exchange rate movement. Should our international sales grow, exposure to fluctuations in
currency exchange rates could have a larger effect on our financial results. In 2010, currency translation had an
unfavorable effect of $19 million on the revenues of our continuing operations due to the strengthening of the U.S.
dollar relative to other currencies in which the company sells products and services, but in the first six months of
2011, currency translation had a favorable effect on revenues of our continuing operations of $155 million due to the
weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies in which the company sells products and services.

Healthcare reform legislation could adversely impact us. The recently enacted Federal legislation on healthcare reform
could have an adverse impact on us. Some of the potential consequences, such as a reduction in governmental support
of healthcare services or adverse changes to the delivery or pricing of healthcare services or products or mandated
benefits, may cause healthcare-industry participants to purchase fewer of our products and services or to reduce the
prices they are willing to pay for our products or services. The new legislation also includes an excise tax, beginning
in 2013, on revenue from the sale by manufacturers of certain medical devices, which could have an adverse impact
on our results of operations.

Our inability to protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, third
parties may claim that we infringe their intellectual property, and we could suffer significant litigation or licensing
expense as a result. We place considerable emphasis on obtaining patent and trade secret protection for significant
new technologies, products and processes because of the length of time and expense associated with bringing new
products through the development process and into the marketplace. Our success depends in part on our ability to
develop patentable products and obtain and enforce patent protection for our products both in the United States and in
other countries. We own numerous U.S. and foreign patents, and we intend to file additional applications, as
appropriate, for patents covering our products. Patents may not be issued for any pending or future patent applications
owned by or licensed to us, and the claims allowed under any issued patents may not be sufficiently broad to protect
our technology. Any issued patents owned by or licensed to us may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, and
the rights under these patents may not provide us with competitive advantages. In addition, competitors may design
around our technology or develop competing technologies. Intellectual property rights may also be unavailable or
limited in some foreign countries, which could make it easier for competitors to capture increased market position. We
could incur substantial costs to defend ourselves in suits brought against us or in suits in which we may assert our
patent rights against others. An unfavorable outcome of any such litigation could materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

We also rely on trade secrets and proprietary know-how with which we seek to protect our products, in part, by
confidentiality agreements with our collaborators, employees and consultants. These agreements may be breached and
we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be
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independently developed by our competitors.

Third parties may assert claims against us to the effect that we are infringing on their intellectual property rights. We
could incur substantial costs and diversion of management resources in defending these claims, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, parties making these
claims could secure a judgment awarding substantial damages, as well as injunctive or other equitable relief, which
could effectively block our ability to make, use, sell, distribute, or market our products and services in the United
States or abroad. In the event that a claim relating to intellectual property is asserted against us, or third parties not
affiliated with us hold pending or issued patents that relate to our products or technology, we may seek licenses to
such intellectual property or challenge those patents. However, we may be unable to obtain these licenses on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and our challenge of the patents may be unsuccessful. Our failure to obtain
the necessary licenses or other rights could prevent the sale, manufacture, or distribution of our products and,
therefore, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

Changes in governmental regulations may reduce demand for our products or increase our expenses. We compete in
many markets in which we and our customers must comply with federal, state, local and international regulations,
such as environmental, health and safety and food and drug regulations. We develop, configure and market our
products to meet customer needs created by those regulations. Any significant change in regulations could reduce
demand for our products or increase our expenses. For example, many of our instruments are marketed to the
pharmaceutical industry for use in discovering and developing drugs. Changes in the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration’s regulation of the drug discovery and development process could have an adverse effect on the
demand for these products.

If any of our security products fail to detect explosives or radiation, we could be exposed to product liability and
related claims for which we may not have adequate insurance coverage. The products currently or previously sold by
our environmental and process instruments businesses include a comprehensive range of fixed and portable
instruments used for chemical, radiation and trace explosives detection. These products are used in airports,
embassies, cargo facilities, border crossings and other high-threat facilities for the detection and prevention of terrorist
acts. If any of these products were to malfunction, it is possible that explosive or radioactive material could fail to be
detected by our product, which could lead to product liability claims. There are also many other factors beyond our
control that could lead to liability claims, such as the reliability and competence of the customers’ operators and the
training of such operators. Any such product liability claims brought against us could be significant and any adverse
determination may result in liabilities in excess of our insurance coverage. Although we carry product liability
insurance, we cannot be certain that our current insurance will be sufficient to cover these claims or that it can be
maintained on acceptable terms, if at all.

Our inability to complete pending acquisitions or to successfully integrate any new or previous acquisitions could
have a material adverse effect on our business. Our business strategy includes the acquisition of technologies and
businesses that complement or augment our existing products and services. Certain acquisitions may be difficult to
complete for a number of reasons, including the need for antitrust and/or other regulatory approvals. Any acquisition
we may complete may be made at a substantial premium over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired company. Further, we may not be able to integrate any acquired businesses successfully into our existing
businesses, make such businesses profitable, or realize anticipated cost savings or synergies, if any, from these
acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business.

Moreover, we have acquired many companies and businesses. As a result of these acquisitions, we recorded
significant goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets on our balance sheet, which amount to approximately
$10.37 billion and $1.33 billion, respectively, as of July 2, 2011. We assess the realizability of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets annually as well as whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that these
assets may be impaired. These events or circumstances would generally include operating losses or a significant
decline in earnings associated with the acquired business or asset. Our ability to realize the value of the goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets will depend on the future cash flows of these businesses. These cash flows in turn
depend in part on how well we have integrated these businesses. If we are not able to realize the value of the goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets, we may be required to incur material charges relating to the impairment of those
assets.

We are subject to laws and regulations governing government contracts, and failure to address these laws and
regulations or comply with government contracts could harm our business by leading to a reduction in revenue
associated with these customers. We have agreements relating to the sale of our products to government entities and,
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as a result, we are subject to various statutes and regulations that apply to companies doing business with the
government. The laws governing government contracts differ from the laws governing private contracts and
government contracts may contain pricing terms and conditions that are not applicable to private contracts. We are
also subject to investigation for compliance with the regulations governing government contracts. A failure to comply
with these regulations could result in suspension of these contracts, criminal, civil and administrative penalties or
debarment.
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Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

Because we compete directly with certain of our larger customers and product suppliers, our results of operations
could be adversely affected in the short term if these customers or suppliers abruptly discontinue or significantly
modify their relationship with us. Our largest customer in the laboratory products business and our largest customer in
the diagnostics business are also significant competitors. Our business may be harmed in the short term if our
competitive relationship in the marketplace with these customers results in a discontinuation of their purchases from
us. In addition, we manufacture products that compete directly with products that we source from third-party
suppliers. We also source competitive products from multiple suppliers. Our business could be adversely affected in
the short term if any of our large third-party suppliers abruptly discontinues selling products to us.

Because we rely heavily on third-party package-delivery services, a significant disruption in these services or
significant increases in prices may disrupt our ability to ship products, increase our costs and lower our profitability.
We ship a significant portion of our products to our customers through independent package delivery companies, such
as UPS and Federal Express in the U.S. and DHL in Europe. We also maintain a small fleet of vehicles dedicated to
the delivery of our products and ship our products through other carriers, including national and regional trucking
firms, overnight carrier services and the U.S. Postal Service. If UPS or another third-party package-delivery provider
experiences a major work stoppage, preventing our products from being delivered in a timely fashion or causing us to
incur additional shipping costs we could not pass on to our customers, our costs could increase and our relationships
with certain of our customers could be adversely affected. In addition, if UPS or our other third-party
package-delivery providers increase prices, and we are not able to find comparable alternatives or make adjustments
in our delivery network, our profitability could be adversely affected.

We are subject to regulation by various federal, state and foreign agencies that require us to comply with a wide
variety of regulations, including those regarding the manufacture of products, the shipping of our products and
environmental matters. Some of our operations are subject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
and similar international agencies. These regulations govern a wide variety of product activities, from design and
development to labeling, manufacturing, promotion, sales and distribution. If we fail to comply with the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration’s regulations or those of similar international agencies, we may have to recall products and
cease their manufacture and distribution, which would increase our costs and reduce our revenues.

We are subject to federal, state, local and international laws and regulations that govern the handling, transportation,
manufacture, use or sale of substances that are or could be classified as toxic or hazardous substances. Some risk of
environmental damage is inherent in our operations and the products we manufacture, sell or distribute. This requires
us to devote significant resources to maintain compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations,
including the establishment of reserves to address potential environmental costs, and manage environmental risks.

Our business could be adversely affected by disruptions at our sites. We rely upon our manufacturing operations to
produce many of the products we sell and our warehouse facilities to store products, pending sale. Any significant
disruption of those operations for any reason, such as strikes or other labor unrest, power interruptions, fire,
earthquakes, or other events beyond our control could adversely affect our sales and customer relationships and
therefore adversely affect our business. Although most of our raw materials are available from a number of potential
suppliers, our operations also depend upon our ability to obtain raw materials at reasonable prices. If we are unable to
obtain the materials we need at a reasonable price, we may not be able to produce certain of our products or we may
not be able to produce certain of these products at a marketable price, which could have an adverse effect on our
results of operations.

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

74



Fluctuations in our effective tax rate may adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. As a global
company, we are subject to taxation in numerous countries, states and other jurisdictions. In preparing our financial
statements, we record the amount of tax that is payable in each of the countries, states and other jurisdictions in which
we operate. Our future effective tax rate, however, may be lower or higher than experienced in the past due to
numerous factors, including a change in the mix of our profitability from country to country, changes in accounting
for income taxes and recently enacted and future changes in tax laws in jurisdictions in which we operate. Any of
these factors could cause us to experience an effective tax rate significantly different from previous periods or our
current expectations, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

We may incur unexpected costs from increases in fuel and raw material prices, which could reduce our earnings and
cash flow. Our primary commodity exposures are for fuel, petroleum-based resins and steel. While we may seek to
minimize the impact of price increases through higher prices to customers and various cost-saving measures, our
earnings and cash flows could be adversely affected in the event these measures are insufficient to cover our costs.

Unforeseen problems with the implementation and maintenance of our information systems or system failures at
certain of our sites could interfere with our operations. As a part of the effort to upgrade our current information
systems, we are implementing new enterprise resource planning software and other software applications to manage
certain of our business operations. As we implement and add functionality, problems could arise that we have not
foreseen. Such problems could adversely impact our ability to provide quotes, take customer orders and otherwise run
our business in a timely manner. In addition, if our new systems fail to provide accurate and increased visibility into
pricing and cost structures, it may be difficult to improve or maximize our profit margins. As a result, our results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

We also rely on our technology infrastructure, among other functions, to interact with suppliers, sell our products and
services, fulfill orders and bill, collect and make payments, ship products, provide services and support to customers,
track customers, fulfill contractual obligations and otherwise conduct business. Our systems may be vulnerable to
damage or interruption from natural disasters, power loss, telecommunication failures, terrorist attacks, computer
viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks and other events. When we upgrade or change systems, we may suffer
interruptions in service, loss of data or reduced functionality. Certain of our systems are not redundant, and our
disaster recovery planning is not sufficient for every eventuality. Despite any precautions we may take, such problems
could result in, among other consequences, interruptions in our services, which could harm our reputation and
financial results.

Our debt may restrict our investment opportunities or limit our activities. As of July 2, 2011, we had approximately
$4.03 billion in outstanding indebtedness. In addition, we had the ability to borrow an additional $952 million under
our revolving credit facility. We may also obtain additional long-term debt and lines of credit to meet future financing
needs, which would have the effect of increasing our total leverage.

Our leverage could have negative consequences, including increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and
industry conditions, limiting our ability to obtain additional financing and limiting our ability to acquire new products
and technologies through strategic acquisitions.

Our ability to satisfy our obligations depends on our future operating performance and on economic, financial,
competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow to meet these
obligations. If we are unable to service our debt or obtain additional financing, we may be forced to delay strategic
acquisitions, capital expenditures or research and development expenditures. We may not be able to obtain additional
financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Additionally, the agreements governing our debt require that we maintain certain financial ratios, and contain
affirmative and negative covenants that restrict our activities by, among other limitations, limiting our ability to incur
additional indebtedness, make investments, create liens, sell assets and enter into transactions with affiliates. The
covenants in our revolving credit facility include a debt-to-EBITDA ratio. Specifically, the company has agreed that,
so long as any lender has any commitment under the facility, or any loan or other obligation is outstanding under the
facility, or any letter of credit is outstanding under the facility, it will not permit (as the following terms are defined in
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the facility) the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (the ratio of consolidated Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA) as at
the last day of any fiscal quarter to be greater than 3.0 to 1.0.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

Item 1A.        Risk Factors (continued)

Our ability to comply with these financial restrictions and covenants is dependent on our future performance, which is
subject to prevailing economic conditions and other factors, including factors that are beyond our control such as
foreign exchange rates and interest rates. Our failure to comply with any of these restrictions or covenants may result
in an event of default under the applicable debt instrument, which could permit acceleration of the debt under that
instrument and require us to prepay that debt before its scheduled due date. Also, an acceleration of the debt under one
of our debt instruments would trigger an event of default under other of our debt instruments.

Item 2.           Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

A summary of the share repurchase activity for the company’s second quarter of 2011 follows:

Period

Total
 Number of

 Shares
 Purchased

Average
Price Paid
 per Share

  Total
Number of

 Shares
 Purchased

as
Part of

 Publicly
 Announced

Plans or
Programs

(1)

Maximum
Dollar Amount
 of Shares That

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under
the Plans or

Programs (1)
(in millions)

Fiscal April (Apr. 3 – May 7) 2,569,600 $ 56.50 2,569,600 $ 554.8
Fiscal May (May 8 – Jun. 4) 861,500 63.10 861,500 500.4
Fiscal June (Jun. 5 – Jul. 2) 405,000 62.82 405,000 475.0

Total Second Quarter 3,836,100 $ 58.65 3,836,100 $ 475.0

(1)  On February 24, 2011, the company announced a repurchase program authorizing the purchase of up to $750
million of the company's common stock
      through February 22, 2012. All of the shares of common stock repurchased by the company during the second
quarter of 2011 were purchased under this
      program.

Item 6.           Exhibits

See Exhibit Index on page 45.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized as of the 5th day of August 2011.

THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

/s/ Peter M. Wilver
Peter M. Wilver
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

/s/ Peter E. Hornstra
Peter E. Hornstra
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

44

Edgar Filing: THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC. - Form 10-Q

79



THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

  2.1 Sale and Purchase Agreement dated May 19, 2011 among Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., CB Diagnostics
Luxembourg S.À R.L, and certain funds managed and advised by Cinven Limited (filed as exhibit 99.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 24, 2011 ([File No. 1-8002] and incorporated in
this document by reference).

  2.2 Warranty Deed dated as of May 19, 2011 among Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Igenza Cin AB, the
Michael Land Family Trust and the warrantors named as parties thereto (filed as exhibit 99.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 24, 2011 ([File No. 1-8002] and incorporated in this
document by reference).

  3.1 By-Laws of the Registrant, as amended and effective as of July 12, 2011 (filed as exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2011 ([File No. 1-8002] and incorporated in this
document by reference).

   10.1 Credit Agreement, dated June 23, 2011, among the Company, Barclays Bank Plc and each lender from
time to time party thereto (filed as exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June
29, 2011 ([File No. 1-8002] and incorporated in this document by reference).

   10.2 Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 23, 2011, among the Company, Barclays Bank Plc and each
lender from time to time party thereto (filed as exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed June 29, 2011 ([File No. 1-8002] and incorporated in this document by reference).

   31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b), as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

   32.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(b) and 15d-14(b), as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**

The Registrant agrees, pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K, to furnish to the Commission
upon request, a copy of each instrument with respect to long-term debt of the Registrant or its
consolidated subsidiaries.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
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101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.
_______________________
*Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

**Certification is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability
of that section. Such certification is
    not deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to
the extent that the registrant specifically
    incorporates it by reference.
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THERMO FISHER SCIENTIFIC INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and six months ended July 2, 2011 and July 3, 2010
(ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets at July 2, 2011, and December 31, 2010, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the six months ended July 2, 2011 and July 3, 2010 and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11
or 12 of the Securities Act, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise is not
subject to liability under these sections.
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